Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case calls for the Supreme Court of Utah to review the Industrial Commission's proceedings and decision awarding benefits to James F. Taylor under the Utah Occupational Disease Disability Law, for the purpose of determining whether the Commission exceeded its powers in making such award, and whether the Commission's findings of

fact are supported by substantial, competent evidence having probative value.

DISPOSITION BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

James F. Taylor filed an Occupational Disease Claim of Employee with the Industrial Commission dated May 9, 1962. On August 6, 1963, pursuant to Order and Notice the Industrial Commission held a hearing on the application. Thereafter, pursuant to a Motion for Supplemental Hearing (R48, 49), the Commission issued its Order granting the said Motion (R50), and by said Order gave notice to the State Insurance Fund that it might desire to present evidence upon the issue of its liability as carrier. Thereafter, an order setting the time and place for the further hearing (R-51) was made and entered setting the time for the second hearing on the 30th day of December, 1963 at 11:00 a.m. The hearing was held on that date. On June 15, 1964 the Commission rendered its decision and order in which it was found that James F. Taylor was 100% disabled because of silicosis based upon the disabling effects of silicosis and that he was entitled to have the United Park City Mines Company and the State Insurance Fund pay him \$15,415.00 compensation benefits at the rate of \$41.75 per week beginning February 9, 1963 and continuing until a total of \$15,415.00 has been paid, together with medical and hospital benefits. The order also required the State

Insurance Fund to pay the said benefits as the insurance carrier for the United Park City Mines Company.

RELIEF SOUGHT IN PETITION

The Plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, in this review of proceedings seeks to have the Supreme Court reverse, vacate and annull the award which the Industrial Commission made to James F. Taylor insofar as it relates to the liability of the State Insurance Fund to pay the benefits as set forth in the Order above described.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

James F. Taylor commenced working as a miner in 1925 (R-56). He left actual underground work for the Silver King Mine "around in the '40s or '39, I think." (R-57). He was employed as a surface watchman between January 31, 1939 to July 1, 1950, and again between July 16, 1950 and August 15, 1952, and from October 22, 1954 to June 30, 1961. The last time he worked as a watchman it was for seven days only from February 3, 1962 to February 8, 1962. All of this period of time his employment was that of a surface watchman (R-116). The record is clear that at least since 1941, he had not been employed in underground mining. (R-61)

The last seven days of employment was that of a night watchman when he filled in for Moon

Q. So you noted that you had a definite shortness of breath at that time?

A. Yes.

- Q. And you were unable in fact to carry on work as an underground miner at that time?
 - A. That's right.
- Q. Did you have any trouble with arthritis at that time?
- A. Well, I had it, but I would always go to work.
- Q. And did that condition shortness of breath, and tendency to fatigue become worse, or was it a fairly static condition?
 - A. It became worse at times.
 - Q. As time went on, it became worse?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. Would you say that by the time you went to work for the Daly Judge Mine, it had gotten about as bad as it got?
- A. Well, it got a little worse after the last years there.
 - Q. The last year or two?
 - A. (Nodding head in the affirmative.)
- Q. But it was very difficult for you to carry on the work during the last, oh, from 1959 on; is that correct?

A. That's right.

- Q. Did you go to a doctor about this condition at all?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. Who did you consult about it?
- A. Well, here a while back last winter I went to Dr. Barta first. He told me I had silicosis.
 - Q. When did you first consult him?
- A. That was around '33, I think it was. Something like that.
- Q. Dr. Barta, back in 1933, told you that you had silicosis?
 - A. (Nodding head in the affirmative.)
- Q. And what other doctors did you consult, in order of the time that you consulted them, about your condition?
- A. I went to Dr. Onike when I went to work for United Park. He told me I had silicosis.
 - Q. And when was that?
- A. 1952. I went to Dr. Openshaw here, and he told me I had silicosis, too.
 - Q. And when was that?
- A. I think that was about '43 or '44. Somewhere around there, I think.
- Q. Did these gentlemen suggest to you that you ought not to continue to work in the mines?
 - A. That's right. Dr. Openshaw sure did.

It may be claimed that Applicant's cause of action did not arise until he became disabled and unable to work as alleged, however, Section 35-2-56 provides for permanent partial disability from occupational disease. Certainly it cannot be said that Mr. Taylor was not partially disabled by reason of the disease as it was impossible for him to work underground, and he was advised that he ought not to continue working in the mine. Dr. Openshaw and Dr. Onike told him he had silicosis and that he should not continue to work in the mine (R-82, 83). It was very difficult for him to carry on work from 1959 on. This question was asked of Mr. Taylor and he advised that that was right. (R-82)

The provisions of Section 35-2-56 which provide for the payment of permanent partial disability compensation for occupational diseases was incorporated in the law in 1949. It cannot be said that the Applicant after that date did not have ample opportunity to properly present his claim for permanent partial disability due to silicosis. It also appears abundantly clear that under the provisions of the limitation statute above set forth that his claim should have been presented at least within one year following 1952 when he was told by Dr. Onike that he had silicosis, and that he ought not to continue to work in the mines.

Although we do not have a Utah silicosis case which involves the above-mentioned limitations statute, we do have a Utah case involving an occupational disease which does interpret the section.

In the case of State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission, et al., 116 U. 279, 209 P. 2d. 558, this Court carefully considered the provisions of Section 35-2-48, U.C.A., 1953, which at that time was known as Section 42-1a-49, U.C.A., 1943.

In that case Elbert I. Lunnen laid off from his work as a welder in a foundry after twenty-two years of employment. He was almost continuously exposed to harmful fumes. During the last five or six years of his employment he suffered from shortness of breath. During the time he was employed he repeatedly called his condition to the attention of his employer and on occasions he was off work from three to eight days at a time.

He was laid off from his employment on February 8th at which time he considered his disability to be only temporary, but he believed that it was due to his exposure to harmful fumes during his employment. He was aware of the fact that his disability might be compensable under the Act because he visited the Industrial Commission. His first doctor apparently did not realize the seriousness of his condition, but his second doctor advised him that his disability was total and permanent and that it was compensable under our Act.

This case was not a silicosis case, but it was based upon a disease other than silicosis, which required the written claim to be filed within sixty days after the cause of action arose. This Court said in construing the above-mentioned statute the following, at Page 283, Utah Reports:

The better rule which is in accord with reason and justice, is that a cause of action does not arise until an ascertainable disability and compensable disability results. This is the rule adopted in California. See Marsh v. Industrial Accident Commission, ***

And again at Page 284, Utah reports:

The cause of action arises in this kind of a case when the employee suffers compensable disability under the act and could by reasonable diligence ascertain that his disability was employment caused and by its nature compensable. That ignorance of the requirements of the law does not postpone the accrual of a cause of action.

And again on Page 285, Utah reports:

But if, on account of his own failure to press his case, or have a complete examination made under circumstances which would reasonably put him on notice that he was probably entitled to compensation, he failed to discover that his disability was compensable, then the fault is his own and he cannot recover.

On Page 286, Utah Reports, Justice Wolf in writing a concurring opinion, had this to say:

Such holding does not permit the employee, by failing to demand payment, to postpone the accrual of the cause of action indefinitely, nor does it in the case where one of several successive employers may be liable, permit the cause of action to arise before it can be ascertained which employer is liable.

There are numerous cases from other jurisdictions which are helpful and have discussed the question as to when the statute of limitations commences to run.

The California doctrine is that for the purposes of the limitation statute, the "injury" set forth in the compensation statute occurred when the accumulated effects culminate in a disability traceable to the latent disease as a primary cause and in those cases whereby the exercise of reasonable care and diligence by the Applicant it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has occurred or has been sustained.

See Marsh vs. Industrial Accident Commission, 217 Cal. 338, 18 P. 2d. 933, 86 ALR 563.

In this case three separate matters were consolidated for consideration. In the Court's opinion at Page 938, 18 P. 2d. is the following:

From our study of the subject we are brought to the conclusion that in the case of a latent and progressive disease, such as pneumoconiosis, it cannot reasonably be said that the injury dates necessarily from the last day of exposure to a dust-laden atmosphere and that the prescriptive period begins to run from that date. Rather, according to our view, should the date of the injury be deemed the time when the accumulated effects culminate in a disability traceable to the latent disease as a primary cause, and by the exercise of reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a com-

pensable injury was sustained in performance of the duties of the employment. (Emphasis ours)

In the *Marsh* case the Court, in reaching its conclusion, fixed the beginning of the running of the limitation statue as of the date the deceased was first disabled from work. The Court held that there should be further proceedings to ascertain when the statute of limitations had begun to run in conformance with the rule above set forth.

This California rule was again stated in State of California, Subsequent Injuries Fund, Petitioner v. Industrial Accident Commission of the State of California, 304 P. 2d. 112 at Page 114, where the Court said:

The date of injury in cases of occupational disease is that date upon which the employee first suffered disability therefrom, and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that that disability was caused by his present or prior employment.

In *Hutchinson v. Semler*, 361 P. 2d. 803, 227 Ore. 437 decided May 10, 1961, rehearing denied June 14, 1961, 362 P. 2d. 704, the Court said at Page 807, 361 P. 2d.:

In it he mentioned developments in the operation of the defendant's laboratory which he said caused the dust condition of the room in which he worked to become acute. He related the efforts which he then made to per-

suade the defendant to provide better ventilation. That occurred in the first part of '56, so he swore. He also described the illness which came upon him and the manner in which his health deteriorated. He dwelled upon the fact that his lungs became effected and declared that 'My breathing was very bad.' Shortly he found himself engaged in coughing. According to him he felt 'rundown, weak condition.' "***I thought maybe that I was tired and run-down and worn-out.' He added that, "If I walked two or three blocks at a normal rate I would be winded.' He attributed his ill health to the dust which he said was in the air of the room where he worked. He swore that the air in the room at times became so laden with dust that he could not see the walls and was compelled to withdraw to a nearby hallway until the dust had settled.

When the plaintiff was asked to specify the time when he noticed his symptoms of ill health, he replied with expressions that lend themselves to more than one signification of time. According to him, he noticed his ill health, 'I'd say three, three and a half years' from the time that he entered the defendant's employ which he stated occurred in 'the spring of 1953'.

In deciding that the judgment of the Circuit Court was affirmed which held that the statute of limitations began to run when the plaintiff became aware of accumulated effects of the harmful dust, the Court stated the following:

We concur in the rule enunciated in the Urie case and believe that our prior decisions are in accord with it. Thus, the statute of limitations began to run in the case at bar when the Plaintiff became apprised, or as a reasonable man should have known, that his health was being undermined by the dust he was breathing.

It is interesting to note that Mr. Taylor in the case now before the Court, testified to similar conditions and that he had similar ailments as those claimed by the Applicant in *Hutchinson vs. Semler* (supra).

The Wisconsin case of *Universal Granite Quar*ries Companies vs. Industrial Commission, 224 Wis. 680, 272 N.W. 863, held that the failure of the Applicant to make a claim for compensation "within two years from the time when he became aware of his condition, and the cause of it" barred his claim.

Mr. Taylor cannot be heard to say that he was not aware of his condition nor that he was somewhat disabled when he testified that commencing in 1941 he no longer worked underground and that he worked on the surface because he was having difficulty. (R-80) He also testified that he knew that he had silicosis because he had been told on more than one occasion, by his examining and attending doctors, that he had this disease. (R-82 83) Certainly the statute of limitations should be held to have run. He had the right to file a claim for

silicosis under the partial disability act at any time after that act went into effect. Certainly it cannot be said that Mr. Taylor was not partially disabled because he was unable to perform his regular duties and had to take jobs which entailed something other than underground mining.

We submit that Defendant Taylor, knew, years ago that he had silicosis and that as a result thereof he had disability, and that therefore his claim should be held to be barred.

Point 2

JAMES F. TAYLOR WAS NOT EXPOSED TO HARMFUL EMPLOYMENT DURING A PERIOD OF THIRTY DAYS AFTER THE POLICY OF INSURANCE ISSUED BY THE STATE INSURANCE FUND BECAME EFFECTIVE.

We do not in presenting this point, agree that James F. Taylor was, at any time during the period that he worked for the United Park City Mines Company after the policy of insurance issued to the United Park City Mines Company by the State Insurance Fund went into effect, exposed to a harmful quantity of silicon dioxide dust.

As hereinbefore set forth the United Park City Mines Company was self-insured until December 1, 1961. Following this date the State Insurance to the date incapacity began. See Inre Johnson, 217 Mass. 388, 104 N. E. 735, Case of Bergeron, 243 Mass. 366, 137 N. E. 739; Case of Johnson, 279 Mass. 481, 181 N. E. 761. Where, in the case of a cumulative cause of injury there has been a change of insurer, it has been deemed essential that the employee, in order to establish the liability of the later insurer to pay compensation, prove the existence of a causal relation between the employment during the period covered by its policy and the employee's injury. Case of Fabrizio, 274 Mass. 352, 174 N. E. 720; Case of Langford, 278 Mass. 461, 463, 180. N. E. 228; Case of De Filippo, 284 Mass. 531, 534, (188 N. É. 245). The implication is that where no such causal relation exists the employee's injury which results in his incapacity is to be regarded as having occurred prior to that period and not at the date incapacity began.

In the very recent case of *The State Insurance* Fund v. The Industrial Commission et al case No. 10095 this Court in discussing the above-quoted section pointed out that the statute requires employment throughout a 30-day period and harmful exposure during that period of 30-day employment. This Court said:

This provision does not require that the employee actually work each day of the 30-day period, nor that he be harmfully exposed each day of such period, it only requires harmful exposure and employment "during a period of 30 days." It would be very un-

usual to have 30 working days or 30 days of harmful exposure during such a period. The obvious meaning of this statute is that it requires employment throughout this period and also harmful exposure during the period but does not require actual working or actual exposure each day of such period.

We submit that the decision in the above-cited case is controlling in this case in that Taylor was not employed during 30-days after the policy of The State Insurance Fund became effective. He was in fact employed for only a seven-day period, all of the days being in succession.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the decision and order of the Industrial Commission insofar as it relates to The State Insurance Fund, should be annulled.