Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Industrial Commission of Utah.

DISPOSITION BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

On June 15, 1964, defendant James F. Taylor was awarded compensation for total and permanent disability due to silicosis under the provisions of Chapter 2, Title 35, U.C.A. 1953. The award was made against United Park City Mines Company and the State Insurance Fund, its occupational disease insurance carrier.

RELIEF SOUGHT IN PLAINTIFF'S PETITION

The plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, seeks to have the Supreme Court reverse, vacate and annul the award which the Industrial Commission made to James F. Taylor, in so far as it relates to the liability of the

State Insurance Fund to pay the benefits set forth in the Order of The Industrial Commission.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant, James F. Taylor, agrees with the statement of facts contained in plaintiff's brief, but notes certain additions thereto.

James F. Taylor filed his claim dated May 9, 1962 for disability due to the occupational disease of silicosis, with the Industrial Commission of Utah on June 4, 1962 (R. 1, 90).

ARGUMENT POINT I

DEFENDANT TAYLOR WAS EXPOSED TO HARMFUL QUANTITIES OF SILICON DIOXIDE DUST FOR MORE THAN FIVE YEARS BETWEEN JUNE 4, 1947 AND JUNE 4, 1962.

Prior to April 20, 1938, defendant Taylor had in excess of thirteen years of harmful exposure to silicon dioxide dust while employed by Silver King Coalition Mines Company in underground mining as a mucker, motorman and a pipe and track man. (R. 56-57)

Commencing January 31, 1939, Mr. Taylor acted as a watchman and worked on the surface for Silver King Coalition Mines Company.

Between January 1, 1939 and 1950 Mr. Taylor in his employment as a watchman for the Silver King Coalition Mines Company was required to punch various time clock stations located in the sampler and the flotation

mill of the Company. To reach these various stations Mr. Taylor passed through the main haulage way from the main shaft to the mill and sampler, which is enclosed in a weather tight snow shed. The passage of the ore and waste trains created a dust condition similar to that in underground haulage (R. 65-69). In the sampler, the concentrated dry ores are dumped by a skip into large bins falling approximately 100 feet. From these bins they are drawn out into buckets of an aerial tramway for shipment to Park City (R. 69-70). Mr. Taylor, in the course of his employment, during the afternoon and graveyard shifts of each working day, was required to punch each station five times on the afternoon shift and eight times on the graveyard shift (R. 70). Other stations located in the flotation mill required passage through the crushing department of the mill and across the crude bins of the mill four times each shift (R. 71-72).

In September of 1950, Mr. Taylor became watchman at the Park City terminal of the aerial tramway, wherein the concentrated ores were dumped into bins in the terminal building preparatory to shipment in railroad cars. The concentrated ores were loaded into box cars by a mechanical belt device which threw the ores from the door of the box cars to the extreme ends. All of such activity produced exposure to silicon dioxide dust (R. 73-75).

On May 8, 1953, the Silver King Coalition Mines Company merged with the Park Utah Consolidated Mines Company and became the United Park City Mines Company. Mr. Taylor was off work because of a strike and shutdown between August 15, 1952 and October 22, 1954 (R. 59-60), during which time the merger took place. Upon return to work, Mr. Taylor was transferred by United Park City Mines Company to the watchman job at the Judge unit. Mr. Taylor, in the course of his employment, would sweep a half carbide can of mine ore and waste from the floor of the change room each shift (R. 75-76). He was required to sweep and clean the haulage way and the snow shed which became littered from mine ores being shipped by leasers. Further exposure to dust was created by dumping the ores from the floor of the snow shed to trucks below for shipment (R. 76-77). This course of employment continued until Mr. Taylor was laid off June 30, 1961.

The exposure of Mr. Taylor upon his recall to work between February 3, 1962 and February 8, 1962 was no different than his exposure between October 22, 1954 and June 30, 1961. It is significant that he worked shifts of twelve hours each and was required to and did shovel a ton and one-half of coal into a hopper approximately 5-1/2 feet high (R. 106). We submit this to be rather vigorous activity for a man whom plaintiffs would have this Court believe to be totally disabled prior to this time in order to bar his claim by application of the one year statute of limitations.

We submit that the Commission's finding the defendant Taylor was exposed to harmful quantities of

silicon dioxide dust for a total period of more than five years in this State during the fifteen years immediately preceding his disablement, is supported by substantial competent evidence having probative value.

POINT II

DEFENDANT'S CLAIM WAS FILED WITHIN THE TIME LIMITATION OF 35-2-48, U.C.A. 1953.

We believe it to be fundamental law that a statute of limitations does not commence to run until a cause of action arises. A cause of action arises under the Occupational Disease Act when there is a disability or death due to an occupational disease.

What is the meaning of the term "disability"? The term is defined in the Act at 35-2-12 U.C.A. 1953, the pertinent parts of which are set forth as follows:

- "35-2-12. CONSCTRUCTION OF TERMS.—The following terms as used in this act shall be construed as follows:
- "(a) 'Disablement' means the event of becoming physically incapacitated by reason of an occupational disease as defined in this act from performing any work for remuneration or profit. Silicosis, as defined in this act, when complicated by active pulmonary tuberculosis, shall be presumed to be total disablement. 'Disability', 'disabled', 'total disability,' or 'totally disabled' shall be synonymous with 'disablement', but they shall have no reference to 'partial permanent disability'.
- "(e) 'Partial permanent disability', as herein used, is defined as that pathological condition di-

rectly resulting from an occupational disease and causing substantial physical impairment, evidenced by objective medical and clinical findings readily demonstrable, and which has reduced the earning capacity of the employee, excluding, however, total disability cases." (Emphasis ours)

Plaintiff argues that defendant Taylor was disabled when he first demonstrated symptoms of silicosis. This argument assumes that the first stages of silicosis are tantamount to disability in some form which starts the statute of limitation running. This argument ignores the facts shown in the record that defendant was gainfully employed from 1933 when the first symptoms of silicosis were noted to the 30th day of June, 1964 when defendant was laid off because of a reduction in forces. Defendant Taylor was physically capable of returning to work during the period from February 3rd to February 8th of 1962 inclusive and performing work for remuneration or profit while working a 12 hour shift on each of the days included in the period. (R. 111) The work record of the defendant Taylor is a part of the record of this case (R. 116) and is as follows:

"Silver King Coalition Mines Company

1925 to 4-20-38	Underground trackman
1-31-39 to 7-1-50	Surface Watchman
9-16-50 to 8-15-52	Surface watchman
United Park City Ma	ines Comp any
10-22-54 to 6-30-61	Surface watchman
2-3-62 to 2-8-62	Surface watchman

Defendant's work record demonstrates that during his entire working life he has been employed by the Silver King Coalition Mines Company or its successor in interest, the United Park City Mines Company. Breaks in the work record are accounted for by industrial disruptions, shut-downs and a disabling non-industrial accident suffered by defendant Taylor.

Defendant's record of earnings during the course of his employment by United Park City Mines is significant in that it indicates the defendant was regularly and gainfully employed between October 22, 1954 to June 30, 1961. Defendant's earnings during this period are a part of the record and are as follows:

"10-22 to 12-31-54	\$ 557.09 (R. 11	l8)
1-1 to 12-31-55	4,154.39 (R. 13	,
1-1 to 12-31-56	4,316.22 (R. 11	L ₉)
1-1 to 12-31-57	4,521.39 (R. 12	20)
1-1 to 12-31-58	4,472.85 (R. 12	21)
1-1 to 12-31-59	4,483.15 (R. 12	22)
1-1 to 12-31-60	4,262.89 (R. 12	23)
1-1 to 6-30-61	2,183.97 (R. 12	24)

Defendant was recalled to and did work between February 3rd and February 8th, 1962 and earned the sum of \$98.63 (R. 125).

We think the earning record of the defendant clearly and fairly demonstrates that he was regularly engaged in work for remuneration or profit during the aforementioned period.

As a matter of law that defendant could not be either totally disabled or partially disabled during the period ending June 30, 1961.

Defendant was still physically able to return to work at the request of his employer and resume his normal occupation of watchman during the period between February 3rd and February 8th, 1964, working 12 hour shifts and shoveling a ton and a half of coal into a hopper approximately 5-1/2 feet high (R. 106).

Defendant Taylor filed his application dated May 9, 1962 with the Industrial Commission on June 4, 1962. This is less than four months from his February, 1962 employment and less than one year from his continuous course of employment commencing in October of 1954 and ending June 30, 1961.

The Commission found that his tentative permanent and total disability commenced as of June 4, 1962. We submit that the sole question here is, whether or not there has been a mis-application of law, or is there no substantial evidence furnishing a reasonable basis to support a material find of fact? The State Insurance Fund vs. The Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah 395 P.2d 541, Case No. 10095, September, 1964.

There seems to be no doubt by plaintiff that the defendant is disabled from the occupational disease of silicosis. The only question is as to when the total disability occurred and we submit that the Commission's finding of June 4, 1962 is amply supported by the law and the evidence.

As to the portion of the plaintiff's brief wherein it is argued, since defendant Taylor was partially disabled since 1952; and, since he failed to file an application

for partial disability within one year after the alleged disability, his claim for total disability is barred by application of the one year statute of limitations; fails, for several reasons.

First, upon the basis of the records and files in this case, we do not believe that a finding of partial disability prior to June 30, 1961 can be supported. There would also be grave doubt as to the supportability of any finding of partial disability prior to the period of employment between February 3rd and February 8, 1962.

Second, even if a finding were made of permanent partial disability subsequent to June 30, 1961, it would be within the time limit of the one year statute of limitations contained in 35-2-48, UCA 1953, which is not applicable to partial disability.

Third, the limitation of action set forth in 35-2-48, UCA 1953 does not apply to partial permanent disability, because the limitation of action provision of this Section is contained in 35-2-56(b), UCA 1953 which is as follows:

"(b) No compensation shall be paid unless such partial disability results within two years prior to the day upon which claim for compensation was filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah."

Fourth, it is the position of defendant Taylor that the provisions for total disability contained in 35-2-13 and the provisions for partial permanent disability contained in 35-2-56, UCA 1953 create separate and distinct causes of action. A review of the legislative history of the two provisions will show that there was no liability

for partial disability, until the latter section was added by the Laws of Utah, 1949, Chapter 51, Section 2. See the case of Masich vs. United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Co., 113 Ut. 101, 191 P.2d 612, wherein it was held that the Occupational Disease Act, Laws of Utah 1941, Chapter 41, had pre-empted the field of disability due to silicosis and that even though there were no provisions for partial permanent disability, there was no common law action for partial permanent disability due to silicosis.

Fifth, with the passage of the partial permanent disability section, Laws of Utah, 1949, Chapter 51, Section 2, the Legislature saw fit to deal with partial disability. The conditions precedent to a claim for total disability due to silicosis are set forth in 35-2-13, UCA 1953, and may be summarized as follows:

- 1. The last day of injurious exposure must be subsequent to July 1, 1941.
- 2. There must be exposure to harmful quantities of silicon dioxide dust for a period of five years during the fifteen years prior to disability; and
 - (a) Disability must result within two years for uncomplicated silicosis;
 - (b) Disability must result within five years for silico-tuberculoss from the last day worked for the employer against whom compensation is claimed.
- 3. The claim must be filed pursuant to 35-2-48, UCA 1953, within one year after the cause of action arises.

The conditions precedent to a claim for partial permanent disability are set forth in 35-2-56, UCA 1953 and may be summarized as follows:

- 1. The last day of injurious exposure must be subsequent to July 1, 1941.
- 2. Partial disability must result within two years prior to the day upon which the claim was filed.
- 3. Partial disability must result within two years of the date of *last exposure*.

We submit that the Legislature in providing for partial permanent disability for silcosis elected to treat partial disability in a substantially different manner than it treated total disability. The conditions precedent are different, as well as a different statute of limitations. As a practical matter, a simple way to emasculate the total disability provision of the Occupational Disease Act would be to adopt the theory urged by the plaintiff. Those applicants filing their claim with the Industrial Commission for total disability, who had not prevously filed a claim for partial permanent disability, would be barred by the statute of limitations. We urge that it is the duty of this Court to interpret these provisions so that the intent of the Legislature in allowing compensation for partial permanent disability due to silicosis will not thwart an applicant whose disability has become total as measured by the provisions of the Act.

Assume the case of an employee who suffers from silicosis which would be classified as non-disabling, per se; assume that the employee continued in his employ-

ment and was gainfully employed, even though he might suffer occasional loss of time because of the progressive nature of his disease but of insufficient amount to entitle him to any measurable compensation, in essence, the beginning of a reduction of his earning capacity; assume that the employee is removed from exposure type employment and continues for more than two years in this employment; then assume that the employee contracts a case of tuberculosis super-imposed upon the silicosis; under plaintiff's theory the employee is barred from filing for his total disability because he failed to file for partial disability.

We submit that the adoption by this Court of plaintiff's theory will have harsh and unwarranted results. The solution is simply to treat the two causes of action separately as they were intended to be treated by the Legislature. The treatment is not without precedent in this jurisdiction where in this Court in Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Company vs. Industrial Commission, 18 Ut. 46, 218 P.2d 970, held that there were two separate and distinct claims pending before the Commission in that the death claim of the dependent is a separate and distinct cause of action from the one running to the deceased because of his injuries.

Sixth, while defendant Taylor does not concede that there is any factual basis to support a finding of partial disability prior to February 8, 1962, Mr. Taylor submits that as a matter of law, the running of a statute of limitations upon a claim for permanent partial disability due to silicosis, does not bar a claim for total disability due to silicosis.

Plaintiff cites and argues State Insurance Fund vs. Industrial Commission, 116 Ut. 279, 209 P.2d 558, referred to hereafter as the Lunnen case, which cites and discusses Marsh vs. Industrial Accident Commission, 217 Cal. 338, 18 P.2d 933, 86 A.L.R. 563. Defendant Taylor has no quarrel with the doctrine announced in these cases. Rather, it is felt that the plaintiff ignores the doctrine of the cases. There is a distinction between the symptoms of the progressive disease known as silicosis and the disability produced by the disease. Plaintiff refuses to recognize that disability is a word of art and must be construed in accordance with the definitions contained in 35-2-12, U.C.A. 1953. The cases talk about disability, not symptoms. We believe this can be illustrated by quoting the rule of the Lunnen case set forth in plaintiff's brief and found at Page 283, Volume 116, Utah Reports:

"The better rule which is in accord with reason and justice, is that a cause of action does not arise until an ascertainable disability and compensable disability results."

This is the rule adopted in California. See Marsh vs. Industrial Accident Commisson *** (emphasis added)

Again, illustrating the defendant's contention by directing the Court's attention to the portion of Marsh vs. Industrial Accident Commission (cited above) quoted by plaintiff's brief, commencing at Page 938 of 18 P.2d:

"From our study of the subject we are brought to the conclusion that in the case of a latent and progressive disease, such as pneumoconiosis, it cannot reasonably be said that the injury dates necessarily from the last day of exposure to a dust-laden atmosphere and that the prescriptive period begins to run from that date. Rather, according to our view, should the date of the injury be deemed the time when the accumulated effects culminate in a disability traceable to the latent disease as a primary cause, and by the exercise of reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury was sustained in performance of the duties of the employment." (emphasis added)

Again directing the Court's attention to State of California, Subsequent Injuries Fund, Petitioner, vs. Industrial Accident Commission of the State of California, Cal.., 304 P.2d 112 at Page 114, the doctrine, again emphasized by italics:

"The date of injury in cases of occupational disease is that date upon which the employee first suffered disability therefrom, and either knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that said disability was caused by his present or prior employment."

Nor do we believe that the case of *Universal Granite Quarries Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 224 Wisc. 680, 272 NW 863, assists the position of the plaintiff. In this case a stone cutter, age 69 years, after some 40 years' exposure became sick and disabled in January of 1932. In February and March of 1932 his illness was diagnosed as tuberculosis. He was treated for tuber-

culosis and in the Fall of 1934 the X-ray films diagnosed silicosis. He filed within thirty days of the X-ray diagnosis of silicosis. The Commission found:

"The applicant knew that he had tuberculosis about February or March, 1932; that he did not, however, know that he had silicosis or that his tuberculosis was caused by silicosis or by his employment until ex-rays were taken in the latter part of the year 1934 * * * that the applicant did not know until within thirty days prior to notice to the respondent, nor ought he to have known, the nature of his disability and its relation to his employment."

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